





Building the right support

A national plan to develop community services and close inpatient facilities for people with a learning disability and/or autism who display behaviour that challenges, including those with a mental health condition



October 2015

Building the right support

A national plan to develop community services and close inpatient facilities for people with a learning disability and/or autism who display behaviour that challenges, including those with a mental health condition

Version number: 1

First published: 30 October 2015

Updated:

Prepared by: Anthony Houlden, Commissioning Policy Manager

Classification: OFFICIAL

Contents

Foreword 4			
1. Executive summary			
2. The journey to date			
•	Background	9	
•	Fast tracks	12	
	o Greater Manchester	13	
	o Lancashire	14	
	\circ Cumbria and the North East	15	
	o Hertfordshire	16	
	 Nottinghamshire 	17	
	$\circ~$ Arden, Herefordshire and Worcestershire	17	
3. The new services we need		22	
•	Improving services for a heterogeneous group	22	
•	The service model	24	
•	Reduced need for inpatient services	27	
4. Working together to provide new services		35	
•	Transforming care partnerships	35	
•	The challenge	36	
•	Supporting local areas	37	
•	Monitoring progress	41	
•	Financial underpinnings	43	
Conclusion		45	

Annex A – Proposed CCG clusters for transforming care partnerships	46
Annex B – Workforce development	52
Annex C – Notes on data used in this document	55

Foreword

Children, young people and adults with a learning disability and/or autism have the right to the same opportunities as anyone else to live satisfying and valued lives, and to be treated with dignity and respect. They should have a home within their community, be able to develop and maintain relationships, and get the support they need to live healthy, safe and rewarding lives.

As a society, we are on a long journey to make that simple vision a reality. We have made enormous strides over several decades. But for a minority of children, young people and adults with a learning disability and/or autism who display behaviour that challenges, including those with a mental health condition¹, we remain too reliant on inpatient care - as they and their families have been telling us loud and clear.

It is for that reason that, in February 2015, NHS England publicly committed to a programme of closing inappropriate and outmoded inpatient facilities and establishing stronger support in the community, and promised that further details would follow later in the year. This plan meets that commitment.

We know it comes at a time when many people with a learning disability and/or autism, as well as their families/carers are frustrated - that change has been limited and slow, particularly following the appalling scandal at Winterbourne View. We know too that thousands of frontline carers, clinicians, providers and commissioners want to make progress.

This plan sets out how we will do so: supporting local leadership and making available new investment to kick-start change. It means that we now have an opportunity – to make real the rights of people with a learning disability and/or autism, and to help thousands of people lead happier lives.

We know that this challenge is achievable because many parts of the country are already successfully doing it. There is good practice across the country to replicate, and the skills and expertise of thousands of families and front-line staff to build on. 'Fast track' areas across England are starting to show what kind of transformational change is possible with strong local leadership building a new generation of community-based services.

Now it is time to deliver across the whole country. This plan sets out how we intend to do so – working with people with a learning disability and/or autism, families, staff, clinicians, providers, and commissioners.

Jane Cummings, Chief Nursing Officer, England

Sarah Pickup, Deputy Chief Executive, Local Government Association **Ray James,** President, Association of Directors of Adult Social Services

Dominic Slowie, National Clinical Director for Learning Disability, NHS England

¹ Hereafter people with a learning disability and/or autism

1. Executive summary

The journey to date

- 1.1 Over many decades, as a society we have significantly reduced our reliance on institutional care to support people with a learning disability and/or autism, closing asylums, campuses and long-stay hospitals. For a minority of people however, there is still an over reliance on inpatient treatment for people who could, given the right support, be at home and close to their loved ones.
- 1.2 Over the last few years hundreds of people from hospital have been supported to leave hospital but others are admitted in their place, often to inappropriate care settings, so the number of inpatients remains steady. We have not made enough progress when it comes to changing some of the fundamentals of care and support.
- 1.3 To make this permanent we need a change in culture, a shift in power to individuals and a change in services. We need to see people with a learning disability and/or autism as citizens with rights, who should expect to lead active lives in the community and live in their own homes just as other citizens expect to. And we need to build the right community based services to support them to lead those lives, thereby enabling us to close all but the essential inpatient provision.
- 1.4 To speed up this process and to help shape a national approach to supporting change, six 'fast track' areas² drew up plans over the summer of 2015 and are already making a difference on the ground. Together they envisage shifting money into community services in order to reduce their usage of inpatient provision by approximately 50% over the coming three years. Their plans will result in the development of a range of new community services and the closure of hospital units, including the last standalone learning disability hospital in England.
- 1.5 This document describes how we intend to build on our experience with fast tracks to implement change across the rest of the country.

The new services we need

1.6 People with a learning disability and/or autism who display behaviour that challenges are a highly heterogeneous group. Some will have a mental health problem which may result in them displaying behaviour that challenges. Some, often with severe learning disabilities, will display self-injurious or aggressive behaviour unrelated to any mental health condition. Some will display behaviour which can lead to contact with the criminal justice system. Some will have been in hospital for many years, not having been discharged when NHS campuses or long-stay hospitals were closed. The new services and support we put in place to support them in the community will need to reflect that diversity.

² Greater Manchester; Lancashire; North East and Cumbria; Arden, Herefordshire and Worcestershire; Nottinghamshire; Hertfordshire

- 1.7 A <u>national service model</u>, developed with the help of people with lived experience, clinicians, providers and commissioners, outlined in this document and published in full alongside it, sets out the range of support that should be in place no later than March 2019. It should be read in tandem with this plan.
- 1.8 Implementing this model, and giving people greater power over the services they use, will result in a significantly reduced need for inpatient care. We expect that as a minimum, in three years' time no area will need capacity for more than 10-15 inpatients per million population in clinical commissioning group (CCG) commissioned beds (such as assessment and treatment units), and 20-25 inpatients per million population in NHS England-commissioned beds (such as low-, medium- or high-secure services).
- 1.9 These planning assumptions will mean that, at a minimum, 45 65% of CCG-commissioned inpatient capacity will be closed, and 25 40% of NHS England-commissioned capacity will close, with the bulk of change in secure care expected to occur in low-secure provision. Overall, 35% 50% of inpatient provision will be closing nationally with alternative care provided in the community. The change will be even more significant in those areas of the country currently more reliant on inpatient care. In three years we would expect to need hospital care for only 1,300-1,700 people where now we cater for 2,600. This will free up money which can then be reinvested into community services, following upfront investment.
- 1.10 These planning assumptions should be seen as the starting point. Commissioners should, working with people with a learning disability and/or autism, be ambitious in thinking about how much further they can go, starting not from the point of what services they have currently but what support people need to live the best possible life.
- 1.11 Just like the rest of the population, people with a learning disability and/or autism must and will still be able to access inpatient hospital support if they need it. What we expect however is that the need for these services will reduce significantly. The limited number of beds still needed should be of higher quality and closer to people's homes.
- 1.12 For those that do need this more specialist support in hospital, their length of stay should be as short as possible. We will work with providers, commissioners and clinicians to reduce length of stay overall and ensure areas learn from best practice for instance one 'fast track' area aims to reduce length of stay in assessment and treatment services to an average of 85 days.

Delivering change

- 1.13 To achieve this systemic change, 49 transforming care partnerships (commissioning collaborations of CCGs, NHS England's specialised commissioners and local authorities) are mobilising now. They will work with people who have lived experience of these services, their families and carers, as well as key stakeholders to agree robust implementation plans by April 2016 and then deliver on them over three years.
- 1.14 An alliance of national organisations will support these transforming care partnerships to deliver on this ambitious agenda, including NHS England, Local Government Association (LGA), Association of Directors of Adult Social Services (ADASS), Health Education England (HEE), Skills for Health, Skills for Care, the Care Quality Commission (CQC), NHS Trust Development Authority (TDA), Monitor, and provider representative organisations, working closely with people with a learning disability and/or autism as well as their families/carers.
- 1.15 In every part of the country there are people with the skills and experience to deliver effective care and support. These people can be found within health and social care services, and amongst the families and carers who support individuals in their own homes. Successful delivery will depend on them. Their insight will be key to designing, developing and launching new services in the community, and their skills and experience will be central to delivering them.
- 1.16 As part of this alliance for delivery, and working alongside local commissioners, we will work with provider organisations to mobilise innovative housing, care and support solutions in the community. Our collaboration will focus on supporting commissioners to redesign services, scaling up community-based services, developing the workforce, accessing investment to expand community services, and securing the capital to deliver the new housing needed.
- 1.17 A new financial framework will underpin delivery of the new care model:
 - Local transforming care partnerships will be asked to use the total sum of money they spend as a whole system on people with a learning disability and/or autism to deliver care in a different way that achieves better results
 - To enable that to happen, NHS England's specialised commissioning budget for learning disability and autism services will be aligned with the new transforming care partnerships
 - CCGs will be encouraged to pool their budgets with local authorities whilst recognising their continued responsibility for NHS Continuing Healthcare.
 - For people who have been in hospital the longest, the NHS will provide a 'dowry' – money to help with moving people home
 - During a phase of transition, commissioners will need to invest in new community support before closing inpatient provision. To support them to do this NHS England will make available up to £30 million of transformation funding, to be matched by CCGs, over and above the £10 million already made available to fast track areas

- In addition to this, £15 million capital funding over three years will be made available and NHS England will explore making further capital funding available following the Spending Review
- From November 2015, *Who Pays'* guidance will be reformed to reduce financial barriers to swift discharge
- **1.18** Before the end of 2018, having built up community support and closed hundreds of beds, we will take stock and look at going further.

2. The journey to date

Background

- 2.1 Historically, from the asylum to the long stay hospital, too often people have been routinely placed in institutions away from their homes and communities.
- 2.2 Rightly, most of these institutions were closed and now the majority of people with a learning disability and/or autism will never come into contact with the types of hospitals including assessment and treatment services that are discussed in this document.



Figure 1: NHS learning disability beds since 1987³

2.3 The scandal at Winterbourne View, however, was not just an individual episode of appalling abuse. It also highlighted the fact that despite the progress we have made as a society in recent decades, for a small number of people we remain too reliant on hospital care, particularly in some parts of the country (see figure 2 and figure 3).

³ Data taken from KH03 collection from all NHS organisations that operate consultant-led beds open overnight or day only. Changes to the way data is collected mean only Q4 data provided from 2010/11. More information: <u>http://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/bed-availability-and-occupancy/</u>



Figure 2: Geographical variation in reliance on *CCG-commissioned* inpatient services (as at 31 July 2015)⁴

Figure 3: Geographical variation in reliance on *NHS England-commissioned* inpatient services (as at 31 July 2015)⁵



⁴ See Annex C for further notes on the data used in these charts

⁵ See Annex C for further notes on the data used in these charts

- 2.4 To address this longstanding problem recently there has been a renewed push to address these issues with, for instance:
 - The CQC introducing a new approach to inspecting learning disability hospitals and the care of people with a learning disability and/or autism in acute hospitals
 - New data systems put in place to track the care people are receiving
 - The Department of Health's consultation No Voice Unheard, No Right Ignored: a consultation for people with learning disabilities, autism and mental health conditions looked at how to strengthen rights, incentives and duties in the wider system, focusing on how people can be supported to live independently in their communities and make choices in their lives. Views were sought on a range of ideas intended to strengthen or build upon existing policies, including possible changes to legislation. The Government will shortly set out the actions it proposes in response to the consultation
- 2.5 In addition to this, NHS England has rolled out a programme of Care and Treatment Reviews (CTRs) reviews of individual patients' care to prevent unnecessary admissions and avoid lengthy stays in hospital. These CTRs bring together:
 - People with a learning disability and/or autism and their families/carers
 - Independent expert advisors one clinical and one expert by experience
 - The responsible commissioner and others involved in the persons care and treatment

These reviews look to see if someone's care is safe, effective and whether they need to be in hospital as well as whether there is a plan in place for the future. By mid-September 2015 over 2,020 CTRs had been completed since their introduction in October 2014. Between March and August 2015, over 750 people in hospital were discharged or transferred.

- 2.6 Progress has been made. Hundreds of people previously in hospital are now living in their own homes, and the foundations for future progress have been laid.
- 2.7 Despite this, we know the most significant changes needed lie ahead. For all the progress discharging individuals from hospital, the number of people not living at home remains similar to what it was when CTRs were introduced. Admissions remain high, and some people are in hospital when they are ready to be discharged because the right support is not available.
- 2.8 As Sir Stephen Bubb highlighted in his report for NHS England⁷, we need to change the mix of services available on the ground shifting our investment into better support in the community and closing some inpatient services. To do this "we need both more 'top-down' leadership...and from the 'bottom up'

⁷ <u>http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/11/transforming-</u> <u>commissioning-services.pdf</u>

more empowerment for people with learning disabilities and/or autism and their families."

2.9 Six 'fast track' areas have begun that process, and this plan sets out how we will now support the rest of the country to follow suit.

Fast tracks

- 2.10 Over the summer of 2015, NHS England, LGA and ADASS supported six 'fast track areas'⁸ (collaborations of CCGs, local authorities and NHS England specialised commissioners) to draw up plans for service transformation. A £10 million fund was made available to these areas to help fund transitional costs and speed up implementation.⁹
- 2.11 These areas are highly diverse in terms of demography, patient flows, provider landscapes, deprivation, urban and rural communities allowing NHS England, LGA and ADASS to test our approach to a range of different challenges that different communities in England will face as they seek to transform services from developing the local workforce to designing new community health services to ensuring that funding flows enable change.



Figure 4: Fast track areas

⁸ Greater Manchester; Lancashire; Cumbria and the North East; Arden, Herefordshire and Worcestershire; Nottinghamshire; Hertfordshire

⁹ The NHS and local government in these areas spend many millions on care for people with a learning disability and/or autism. The £10 million is not intended to fund all the costs in that new service model

- 2.12 Each fast track has published its plan and fast track areas are now engaging with local communities and providers to help shape delivery.
- 2.13 Taken together, fast track plans envisage that bed usage across all six areas will reduce by approximately 50% over the coming three years, freeing up tens of millions of pounds which will be invested in community-based support to prevent hospital admissions.
- 2.14 Below is a summary of some of the actions that each of the fast track areas are implementing.

Greater Manchester

- 2.15 The devolution deal for Greater Manchester has resulted in new powers and responsibilities for local leaders. In describing their joint ambition for change, they have prioritised the improvement of services for people with a learning disability and/or autism.
- 2.16 In terms of bed usage, the Greater Manchester Fast Track uses a range of hospital providers but has a significant number of inpatients in Calderstones Partnership Foundation Trust, which is also used to a large degree to provide care to patients from Lancashire. As such their plans are being jointly developed with the Lancashire Fast Track.
- 2.17 Their ambition is to reduce their use of 130 inpatient beds by 50%: from 77 non-secure beds to 30 (a 60% reduction) and from 53 secure beds to 35 (a 34% reduction) by 2018/19. To re-provide this care they are creating intensive community support services with robust case management and discharge coordination across the area to enable individuals to receive care at home and improve their care experience.
- 2.18 Recognising that occasionally the needs of individuals can increase, they are also investing, this year, in six local crisis beds and an in-reach/outreach team providing safe short intensive support when needed.
- 2.19 Furthermore they are in the process of creating an innovative housing scheme that will ensure round-the-clock care for people with a learning disability and/or autism from early next year.
- 2.20 A cornerstone of the plan is their intention to retain and build the confidence of the staff, as well as families/carers, to improve quality of care in the community. To do this they intend to deliver a three year family and staff development programme.
- 2.21 In addition, to monitor the impact of the plan by March 2017 as part of the wider Greater Manchester Public Sector Reform Programme there will a formal evaluation assessing its impact over an 18 month period.

Lancashire

- 2.22 Similarly to Greater Manchester Fast Track, Lancashire uses a range of hospital providers but has a significant number of inpatients in Calderstones Partnership Foundation Trust.
- 2.23 Lancashire intends to reduce their reliance on non-secure beds by 70% and substantially reduce the numbers of people who come into contact with secure services. This high ambition will be achieved by focussing on putting in place high-quality individual packages of care and creating a hub and spoke community support model (expected to be fully operational by March 2018). They will develop:
 - An integrated community learning disability team across the whole of Lancashire
 - Crisis intervention and support services across the area
 - A small number of community-based assessment and treatment services to prevent unnecessary out of area placements
- 2.24 To help with developing these services, Lancashire is rolling out a local engagement plan to ensure people impacted by these changes are fully involved in the building up of community capacity and shaping the services they use.
- 2.25 Their intention to retain staff to work in new models of care is a vital part of the plan. A comprehensive development programme will be rolled out this year, with two CCGs implementing Positive Behavioural Support (PBS) training and a scheme designed to offer rights-based training to improve access to mainstream health and social care services for people with a learning disability and/or autism.
- 2.26 Finally, in line with the national service model, they expect from April 2017 to reshape advocacy services across the region and develop a more robust model for delivering short break services.

Calderstones Partnership NHS Foundation Trust

- 2.27 A key plank of the plans being developed in Lancashire and Greater Manchester will be to close and re-provide services offered by Calderstones Partnership NHS Foundation Trust.
- 2.28 Calderstones Partnership NHS Foundation Trust is the only remaining standalone learning disability hospital trust in England with 223 beds. They have initiated a collaboration with Mersey Care NHS Trust driven by an ambition to develop person-centred care, and sustainable services that stand the test of time, underpinned by a strong quality, clinical and financial case for fundamental changes in local secure mental health and learning disabilities care.
- 2.29 The plan is for Mersey Care NHS Trust to take over Calderstones Partnership NHS Foundation Trust, which from July 2016 will cease to exist.

- 2.30 The plans developed by Greater Manchester and Lancashire Fast Tracks with NHS England Specialised Commissioners, subject to consultation, will implement a new service model resulting in a substantial reduction of beds (>60% fewer than currently).
- 2.31 NHS England will also cease commissioning secure services on the Calderstones site.
- 2.32 All hospital beds on the current Calderstones site will therefore, subject to consultation, close and be re-provided over the next three years on a case by case basis for each patient, in the community or in new state of the art units elsewhere in the North West, and the Calderstones site will close.
- 2.33 Ongoing consultation and engagement with people with learning disabilities, their families and carers will be central to the process of change and the commissioners and providers involved are committed to ensuring that patients and families are always involved in decisions about their care and support.
- 2.34 Calderstones Partnership NHS Foundation Trust and Mersey Care NHS Trust have appointed a joint Medical Director to provide clinical leadership in the process of bringing these two organisations together. The post holder will help sustain and build world class leaders and staff, enabling them to be part of the future.
- 2.35 The trusts are already focussing on a range of joint quality initiatives with staff to improve quality and increase efficiency for instance, they have initiated an international collaboration with Stanford Risk Authority (Stanford University) to manage risk and learn lessons in a way that has never been undertaken in the NHS.

Cumbria and the North East

- 2.36 Compared to the rest of the country, Cumbria and the North East have more individuals with a learning disability registered on GP registers and a higher usage of inpatient services (255 inpatient beds) mainly making use of two key hospital trusts Northumberland, Tyne and Wear Foundation Trust and Tees Esk and Wear Valleys Foundation Trust.
- 2.37 These beds are a collection of secure and non-secure beds and are occupied not only by people from the area, but from across the country. Cumbria and North East aim to deliver a 52% reduction (76 beds) in non-secure beds and a 43% reduction (47 beds) in low secure beds. Commissioning action is already underway to facilitate this reduction, with 40 beds being empty at time of publication.
- 2.38 Building on service improvements in physical health, Cumbria and the North East are creating a single set of standards to incorporate into contracts used locally. Each local authority and CCG is developing and building community capacity, including in 2015/16 new investment in:

- Services to support people with attention deficit hyperactivity disorder and autism across Northumberland, and Tyne and Wear
- Advocacy services
- Carers support
- 2.39 Localities are also testing new approaches to improving quality. For example, in Newcastle an innovative housing initiative, developed through collaboration between social care providers and an NHS provider, is providing preventative care and treatment to improve the quality of support people with a learning disability and/or autism experience and to avoid unnecessary admissions.
- 2.40 A central plank to the plan is to retain staff to work in new models of care, and develop and up skill the workforce. For instance, working with Northumbria University and local clinicians they intend to implement a National Vocational Qualification (NVQ) based on PBS training for staff.

Hertfordshire

- 2.41 For several years Hertfordshire CCGs have been working with Hertfordshire Partnership Trust, Hertfordshire County Council and others to modernise services for people with a learning disability and/or autism, and they have already successfully closed many assessment and treatment beds across the area. But they believe they should go further.
- 2.42 Their ambition is now to bring adult and children's services together into a dedicated integrated service. This will include a single point of access that will empower service users of all ages to access help, support and appropriate treatment in the community. This model will be consulted on before the end of the year.
- 2.43 By 2018/19 they expect to reduce their usage of low-secure beds by over 30%, and to reduce length of stay in assessment and treatment beds to an average of 85 days.
- 2.44 Furthermore, they are establishing an evaluation partnership with Hertfordshire University to test a number of prevention and early discharge services for individuals who have been in contact with the criminal justice system. This includes a strengthened community forensic team to enable faster supported discharge and greater use of community restriction orders, and a Circles Project to deliver community support to people with a learning disability and/or autism who are deemed to be at high risk of sexual offending.
- 2.45 Recognising that individuals' needs can increase, a number of innovative crisis intervention pilots will be commissioned and evaluated from 2015/16, namely:
 - A hosted family crisis support pilot which will provide intensive home support during crisis periods
 - A 'crash pad' pilot providing short term accommodation for people who need crisis intervention in situations where there has been a placement breakdown or termination of tenancy

2.46 Finally, Hertfordshire has already begun work to pilot the implementation of integrated personal health budgets, which will start to be introduced from April 2016.

Nottinghamshire

- 2.47 Nottinghamshire intends to reduce its reliance on non-secure services from 40 occupied beds to 15 (a 63% reduction) and almost halve its usage of low and medium secure beds from 34 to 16 (a 56% reduction). Nottinghamshire now has 65 people in inpatient care in NHS trusts and the independent sector.
- 2.48 Nottinghamshire's plan has individual rights at its centre and an immediate priority is to commission an increase in advocacy for people during care and treatment reviews. Early plans also include strengthening their existing community learning disability and intensive care and treatment teams, as well as risk registers, so they can confidently support individuals who are at risk of coming into contact with the criminal justice system and subsequent admission to hospital.
- 2.49 Recognising that confidence of staff and families is paramount to helping individuals stay at home, families will be offered evidence-based parenting training as well as practical and emotional support locally. In addition, to retain and up skill staff to deliver the new care model workforce training will be undertaken to ensure staff have a consistent understanding and approach to working with people who display behaviour that challenges which enables individuals to remain in the least restrictive setting.
- 2.50 Next year, they will expand their personal health budget offer and tackle gaps in the accessibility of mainstream services. As the needs of individuals can increase, new crisis accommodation will be established as well as new pioneering housing options for people with complex behaviours and those in contact with the criminal justice system as they are discharged from hospital.
- 2.51 Nottinghamshire will start to pool budgets for crisis care from April 2016 and work towards further alignment and pooling arrangements from April 2017.
- 2.52 Finally, across Nottinghamshire there are a high number of local inpatient beds (199), many of which are not used by local commissioners. The Fast Track has recognised that the longer term plan of this economy will require strong partnerships with other commissioners across the country.

Arden, Herefordshire and Worcestershire

2.53 Commissioners in Arden, Herefordshire and Worcestershire have been driving forward improvements in learning disabilities for several years and have agreed strategies for improving both physical and mental health and been steadily reducing reliance on hospital beds. They now have 47 people in inpatient care, mainly in Coventry and Warwickshire NHS Trust.

- 2.54 It is expected that across the area they will reduce the number of beds used by inpatients to 14. This means reducing their usage of non-secure beds from 19 to 3 (an 85% reduction), and of secure beds from 21 to 11 (a 48% reduction). They also intend to reduce their usage of child and adolescent mental health service (CAMHS) beds by children with a learning disability and/or autism by seven.
- 2.55 These closures are expected to start this year, with a nine-bed assessment and treatment ward shutting (subject to appropriate local consultation).
- 2.56 Their intention is to redeploy staff working in that unit to new community services, and having learnt from the experience and undertaken appropriate consultation, to apply the learning to other sites.
- 2.57 In addition, the area plans to develop by November 2015:
 - An admission avoidance scheme in Coventry and Warwickshire NHS Trust
 - A short-term accommodation for people who need support when a placement breaks down or, for example, if a tenancy breaks down
- 2.58 Throughout the rest of the year, across Arden, Herefordshire and Worcestershire the aim is to create intensive community support teams which will work with existing mental health crisis teams to provide comprehensive crisis care 24/7. To facilitate this they plan to have a liaison nurse who will work to improve support and the interface between learning disability and wider mental health services.
- 2.59 From April 2016 a community forensic service will be commissioned to support people to be discharged who are currently out of area and enhance the support locally to avoid future admissions. The aim is to then review the coverage and plan for further closures in 2017/18.
- 2.60 Finally, Coventry and Warwick Partnership Trust are commissioned by other West Midlands commissioners. The Arden, Hereford and Worcestershire Fast Track is exploring strategic alliances with them to spread learning and support change.



Figure 5: Projected bed usage rates across fast track sites (inpatients per million population)¹⁰

Figure 6: Projected *total* bed usage across fast tracks (chart shows projected number of inpatients originating from the fast track site)¹¹



¹⁰ See Annex C for further notes on the data used in these charts

¹¹ See Annex C for further notes on the data used in these charts



Figure 7: Projected usage of *NHS England*-commissioned beds across fast tracks (chart shows projected number of inpatients originating from the fast track site)¹²

Figure 8: Projected usage of *CCG-commissioned* beds across fast tracks (chart shows projected number of inpatients originating from the fast track site)¹³



¹² See Annex C for further notes on the data used in these charts

¹³ See Annex C for further notes on the data used in these charts

2.61 The action outlined above represent just the start of what the fast tracks will do, and as their plans develop and community services mature we expect the bed reduction trajectories set out in their plans to translate into further closure of individual wards and units. As the fast track areas start to implement their ambitious plans for change, NHS England, LGA and ADASS will draw on our experience of working with them to support the rest of the country to build new community services and close inpatient provision that is no longer needed. The rest of this plan sets out how these new services should look, and how we plan to work together to deliver them.

3. The new services we need

- 3.1 People with a learning disability and/or autism have the right to the same opportunities as anyone else to live satisfying and valued lives and to be treated with dignity and respect. They should expect, as people without a learning disability or autism expect, to live in their own homes, to develop and maintain positive relationships and to get the support they need to be healthy, safe and an active part of society.
- 3.2 As Professor Jim Mansell highlighted in 1993 and in 2007, however, too rarely do people receive this type of personalised support across their whole life. In turn, many of the behaviours services label as challenging could be prevented from developing if the right support were made available to people and their families or carers when they needed it.
- 3.3 The changes to services we plan to make are intended to put that right.

Improving services for a heterogeneous group

- 3.4 People with a learning disability and/or autism who display behaviour that challenges are a highly heterogeneous group. The task of reshaping services will reflect that diversity.
- 3.5 For people who have been in inpatient settings for a very long period of time, the task facing commissioners will be to resettle those individuals into the community and close the hospital beds behind them. This will include a number of people who will have been in hospital for many years, in some cases having not been discharged when NHS campuses or long-stay hospitals were closed. It is the group of people for whom hospital has effectively become a permanent home, and for whom the task now is to find them a more appropriate home in the community, with the right package of health and care support around them. This is the group who will likely be eligible for NHS-funded dowries when they are ready to be discharged, to help fund their new package of care in the community (see chapter 4 for more detail on how these 'dowries' will work).
- 3.6 Approximately a third of the people currently in hospital have been in inpatient settings for five years or longer. Whilst hospital may be the right place for some of this group (for clinical reasons often combined with Ministry of Justice restrictions), Care and Treatment Reviews have already identified transfer/discharge dates over the coming three years for just under 40% of the individuals concerned, and we would expect that number to rise as we build the right set of services in the community.
- 3.7 In the main, however, the challenge facing commissioners is as much about preventing new admissions and reducing the time people spend in inpatient care by providing alternative care and support, as it is about discharging those individuals currently in hospital. The task requires: advocacy, early intervention, prevention, ensuring the right set of services are available in the community.

- 3.8 In many cases, it will involve close collaboration not just between the NHS and social care, but also with parts of the criminal justice system, building on recent joint work between NHS England and the Ministry of Justice to facilitate discharges of patients subject to restriction orders currently more than one in five of the people in hospital settings have been detained on part III of the Mental Health Act with a Ministry of Justice restriction.
- 3.9 Transformation will mean redesigning services to better meet a range of common sets of needs. For instance, it will mean better serving children, young people or adults with a learning disability and/or autism who:
 - Have a mental health condition such as severe anxiety, depression, or a psychotic illness, and those people with personality disorders, which may result in them displaying behaviour that challenges
 - Display self-injurious or aggressive behaviour (not related to severe mental ill health), some of whom will have a specific neuro-developmental syndrome where there may be an increased likelihood of developing behaviour that challenges
 - Display risky behaviours which may put themselves or others at risk and which could lead to contact with the criminal justice system (this could include things like fire-setting, abusive or aggressive or sexually inappropriate behaviour)
 - Often have lower level support needs and who may not traditionally be known to health and social care services, from disadvantaged backgrounds (e.g. social disadvantage, substance abuse, troubled family backgrounds) who display behaviour that challenges, including behaviours which may lead to contact with the criminal justice system
- 3.10 The different kinds of shift in service response required to better meet these different needs are set out in more detail in a <u>national service model</u> for commissioners of health and social care services, developed with the support of a group of independent experts, including people with lived experience of services, and published alongside this document.





The service model

- 3.11 Each local area is different. Local populations have different needs, and their range of providers have different strengths and weaknesses. The mix of services they put in place will need to reflect that diversity. However, there does need to be some national consistency in what services look like across local areas, based on established best practice.
- 3.12 The national service model, developed with the support of people with learning disability and/or autism, as well as families/carers, and a group of independent experts and published alongside this document, sets out how services should support people with a learning disability and/or autism who display behaviour that challenges.

The National Service Model

- 1. People should be supported to have a **good and meaningful everyday life** through access to activities and services such as early years services, education, employment, social and sports/leisure; and support to develop and maintain good relationships.
- 2. Care and support should be **person-centred**, **planned**, **proactive and coordinated** – with early intervention and preventative support based on sophisticated risk stratification of the local population, person-centred care and support plans, and local care and support navigators/keyworkers to coordinate services set out in the care and support plan.
- 3. People should have **choice and control** over how their health and care needs are met with information about care and support in formats people can understand, the expansion of personal budgets, personal health budgets and integrated personal budgets, and strong independent advocacy.
- 4. People with a learning disability and/or autism should be supported to live in the community with **support from and for their families/carers as well as paid support and care staff** with training made available for families/carers, support and respite for families/carers, alternative short term accommodation for people to use briefly in a time of crisis, and paid care and support staff trained and experienced in supporting people who display behaviour that challenges.
- 5. People should have a choice about where and with whom they live with a choice of **housing** including small-scale supported living, and the offer of settled accommodation.
- 6. People should get good care and support from **mainstream NHS services**, using NICE guidelines and quality standards with Annual Health Checks for all those over the age of 14, Health Action Plans, Hospital Passports where appropriate, liaison workers in universal services to help them meet the needs of patients with a learning disability and/or autism, and schemes to ensure universal services are meeting the needs of people with a learning disability and/or autism (such as quality checker schemes and use of the Green Light Toolkit).
- 7. People with a learning disability and/or autism should be able to access **specialist health and social care support in the community** via integrated specialist multi-disciplinary health and social care teams, with that support available on an intensive 24/7 basis when necessary.
- 8. When necessary, people should be able to get **support to stay out of trouble** with reasonable adjustments made to universal services aimed at reducing or preventing anti-social or 'offending' behaviour, liaison and diversion schemes in the criminal justice system, and a community forensic health and care function to support people who may pose a risk to others in the community.
- 9. When necessary, when their health needs cannot be met in the community, they should be able to access high-quality assessment and treatment in a **hospital** setting, staying no longer than they need to, with pre-admission checks to ensure hospital care is the right solution and discharge planning starting from the point of admission or before.

Classification: Official



Service Model

Commissioners understand their local population now and in the future

Reduced need for inpatient services

- 3.13 With the right set of services in place in the community, the need for inpatient care will significantly reduce, and commissioners will need to have in place far less hospital capacity.
- 3.14 We will support local commissioners to plan exactly what inpatient capacity they do need, starting with a set of national planning assumptions. Those planning assumptions are that by March 2019, no area should need more inpatient capacity than is necessary at any one time to cater to:
 - 10-15 inpatients in CCG-commissioned beds (such as those in assessment and treatment units) per million population
 - 20-25 inpatients in NHS England-commissioned beds (such as those in low-, medium- or high-secure units) per million population
- 3.15 In some local areas, use of beds will be lower than these planning assumptions, and we will encourage those local areas to see if they can go still further in supporting people out of hospital settings above and beyond the these initial planning assumptions.
- 3.16 These planning assumptions are based on what fast track areas have told us they believe is possible, 'sense-checked' against current geographical variation in usage of inpatient services (see figures 2 and 3 below).
- 3.17 These planning assumptions (10-15 inpatients in CCG-commissioned beds per million population; 20-25 inpatients in NHS England-commissioned beds per million population) would translate to closing, at a minimum:
 - 45-65% of CCG-commissioned inpatient capacity (such as assessment and treatment units)
 - 25-40% of NHS-England- commissioned inpatient capacity (such as secure services, where we expect the bulk of change to occur in lowsecure provision)
- 3.18 Taken together, that means closing, at a minimum, between 35% 50% of inpatient provision nationally. In some areas more reliant on hospital care the change will be even more significant, as the following map and charts illustrate.





¹⁴ Upper and lower planning assumptions have been applied to current inpatient rates at a transforming care partnership level. The map shows the % reduction in inpatient numbers represented by the midpoint between the projected upper and lower rates for each partnership. See Annex C for further notes on the data used in these charts

Figure 11: Geographical variation in reliance on *CCG-commissioned* inpatient services (as at 31 July 2015), shown against new national planning assumptions by proposed transforming care partnership¹⁵



¹⁵ See Annex C for further notes on the data used in these charts

Figure 12: Geographical variation in reliance on *NHS England-commissioned* inpatient services (as at 31 July 2015), shown against new national planning assumptions by proposed transforming care partnership¹⁶



¹⁶ See Annex C for further notes on the data used in these charts





¹⁷ See Annex C for further notes on the data used in these charts

Figure 14: Reductions in usage (%) of *NHS England-commissioned* inpatient services implied by national planning assumptions by transforming care partnership¹⁸



¹⁸ See Annex C for further notes on the data used in these charts

Figure 15: Reductions in *total* usage (%) of inpatient services implied by national planning assumptions by proposed transforming care partnership¹⁹



¹⁹ See Annex C for further notes on the data used in these charts

- 3.19 These national planning assumptions should be seen as articulating a minimum ambition for the coming three years not a target that, once met, renders the task complete.
- 3.20 These assumptions are exactly what the term implies assumptions for local commissioners to use as they enter into a detailed process of planning. Local planning needs to be creative and ambitious based on a strong understanding of the needs and aspirations of people with a learning disability and/or autism, their families and carers, and on expert advice from clinicians, providers and others. The starting point for service planning should be to think creatively about what support would help people to live the best possible life, as opposed to making marginal change to the set of services we have currently and we will support people with lived experience, clinicians, providers and other experts to work with commissioners and help them think ambitiously and creatively in that way.
- 3.21 In parallel to these planning assumptions, for the inpatient provision that remains we will work with clinicians, providers and commissioners to reduce the period of time that people spend in hospital, building on and spreading best practice for instance, Hertfordshire's fast track plan aims to help reduce length of stay in assessment and treatment services to an average of 85 days. We will also use Care and Treatment Reviews (CTRs) to this end: if someone is still in hospital after six months a mandatory CTR will take place, and people in hospital will also have a right to request a CTR.
- 3.22 The planning assumptions articulated here should not be seen as describing an 'end state' after which services can be set in aspic. We will always want to improve the services and support we make available to people with a learning disability and/or autism. So before the end of 2018, having built up community support and closed hundreds of beds, we will take stock and look at going further with the development of community support and the closure of inpatient services.
- 3.23 The immediate task now, however, is to start delivering the ambitious changes set out above. What follows is our plan for doing that.

4. Working together to provide new services

Transforming care partnerships

- 4.1 To deliver the change outlined in the previous chapter, and following what we have learned from the fast tracks, NHS commissioners, in discussion with local government, are mobilising transforming care partnerships collaborations of CCGs, local authorities and NHS England specialised commissioners.
- 4.2 Currently the approach to commissioning services for people with a learning disability and/or autism is fractured, with responsibility split between local authorities, CCGs and NHS England. It can be difficult to move funding from one agency to another, to enable the commissioning of less inpatient care and more preventative, community-based services and support. Furthermore, many CCGs will be commissioning for a small number of people with a learning disability and/or autism, making it difficult to take a strategic approach to changing services across the system. Hospitals caring for this group of patients will often be commissioned by a large number of CCGs and NHS England, so that it is difficult for one commissioner to work with those providers to change the services they offer.
- 4.3 The new transforming care partnerships, currently mobilising, are intended to help address these weaknesses in commissioning arrangements. They will bring together the commissioners responsible for funding health and social care for people with a learning disability and/or autism (CCGs, local authorities with their responsibilities for care and housing, NHS England specialised commissioning), with their budgets aligned or pooled as appropriate. Figure 16 below and Annex A set out further details on how CCGs propose to cluster together in order to work with local authorities and NHS England specialised commissioning hubs in these new partnerships. We expect all CCGs in England to have finished these arrangements by December 2015.
- 4.4 Transforming care partnerships will be supported to work alongside people who have experience using these services, as well as their families/carers, clinicians, providers and other stakeholders to formulate and implement **joint transformation plans** closing some inpatient provision and shifting investment into support in the community.
- 4.5 They will bring commissioners together at a scale larger than most CCGs and many local authorities, with their geographical footprint based on:
 - Building where possible on existing collaborative commissioning arrangements (e.g. joint purchasing arrangements amongst CCGs, joint commissioning arrangements between CCGs and local authorities)
 - Local health economies of services for people with a learning disability and/or autism (e.g. patient flows, the provider landscape, and relationships between commissioners and providers). Where, for instance, a number of CCGs tend to use the same hospital provider for inpatient services for

people with a learning disability and/or autism, it makes sense for those CCGs to implement change collaboratively

• Commissioning at sufficient scale to manage risk, develop commissioning expertise and commission strategically for a relatively small number of individuals whose packages of care can be very expensive

The challenge

- 4.6 Each Transforming Care Partnership will be supported to improve outcomes for people with a learning disability and/or autism both those currently in inpatient services (of whom there are approximately 2,600 nationally) and those in the community at risk of being admitted to hospital without the right support (of whom there are an estimated 24,000 nationally²⁰).
- 4.7 We will support local transforming care partnerships to make progress on three outcomes:
 - Reduced reliance on inpatient services (closing hospital services and strengthening support in the community)
 - Improved quality of life for people in inpatient and community settings
 - Improved quality of care for people in inpatient and community settings
- 4.8 People with a learning disability and/or autism as well as their families/carers should be supported to co-produce these plans. The change we need to see is as much about a shift in power as it is about service reconfiguration, and that should be reflected not just in the new services and support put in place (where for instance the national service model calls for the expansion of personal health budgets and high-quality independent advocacy), but in the way service changes are planned and delivered.
- 4.9 We will expect transforming care partnerships to tailor their approach based on local context, but in a way that is consistent with national parameters - in particular, the national service model and minimum planning assumptions on inpatient capacity outlined in chapter 3.
- 4.10 This work will also need to align with a number of other national priorities, such as:
 - Local Transformation Plans for Children and Young People's Health and Wellbeing
 - Local action plans under the Mental Health Crisis Concordat
 - The 'local offer' for personal health budgets, and Integrated Personal Commissioning (combining health and social care)
 - Work to implement the Autism Act 2009 and recently refreshed statutory guidance
 - The roll out of education, health and care plans

²⁰ K. Lowe et al, Challenging Behaviours: prevalence and topographies. Journal of Intellectual Disability Research, 51, 625–636 (2007).




Transforming Care Partnerships

	-
	South Worcestershire, Redditch, Bromsgrove & Wyre Forest (Fast Track)
	Hereford (Fast Track)
	Coventry, Rugby, South Warw ickshire & Warw ickshire North (Fast Track)
(111)	Birmingham Cross City, Birmingham South Central & Solihull
	Walsall
	Black Country
	Derbyshire
UUD	Nottinghamshire (Fast Track)
	Suffolk
	Norfolk
	Cambridge and Peterborough
	Essex
	Bedford, Luton and Milton Keynes
()))	Hertfordshire (Fast Track)
	Nene and Corby
	Lincolnshire
	Leicestershire



Supporting local areas

4.11 NHS England, LGA and ADASS will support transforming care partnerships through the different stages of their journey in planning for and implementing change.



Mobilisation

- 4.12 Local areas will need to have a solid foundation upon which to base transformation, including strong leadership and sound governance, engagement and commitment to joint working amongst a complex range of stakeholders.
- 4.13 As with the fast track areas, we envisage all transforming care partnerships having a single Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) responsible for the development and delivery of this work.
- 4.14 Transforming care partnerships will need to engage with and involve a broad range of people, including: all the CCGs; NHS England specialised commissioners; local authorities, including those commissioners responsible for adult and children's social care, education, housing and safeguarding; people with a learning disability and/or autism, their families/carers; clinicians; third-sector organisations; the police and those responsible for the criminal justice system; and relevant Local Education and Training Boards.
- 4.15 We will support local commissioners in this phase to mobilise the necessary project management resource, governance arrangements and partnership working across the range of organisations who need to be involved.

Understanding the starting point

- 4.16 Transforming care partnerships will need to base their plans on a strong understanding of: the population they are seeking to achieve better outcomes for (both current inpatients and those in the community at risk of admission without the right support); how much money CCGs, local authorities and NHS England specialised commissioners are currently spending on health and care for that population; which providers are delivering what services for that spend; and how the system is currently performing, its strengths and weaknesses.
- 4.17 In addition to the above areas will need to understand the estate and housing requirements to implement their plans, and establish whether there are

available capital receipts which could be recycled as part of this programme – including those relating to the estimated 2,000 properties used by councils or social landlords to provide housing or care to people with a learning disability but under an NHS charge.

4.18 NHS England, LGA and ADASS will provide data and access to subject matter experts to support local commissioners to understand the strengths and weaknesses of existing local services.

Developing a vision for the future and designing a future model of care

- 4.19 We will support local commissioners to develop a shared vision of how services will change, in line with the national service model.
- 4.20 NHS England, LGA and ADASS will support local areas with independent facilitation to bring local stakeholders together to design a jointly-owned future model of care. We will also support commissioners to access a range of experts, such as people with a learning disability and/or autism and their family carers who are 'experts by experience', clinicians, people with experience of person-centred planning and integrated personal budgets and providers of innovative community care and support.

Implementation planning

- 4.21 Local commissioners will need to draw up a road map for implementation, covering issues such as finance, workforce development, market development, or changes to estates.
- 4.22 NHS England, LGA and ADASS will provide technical expertise to support local areas with implementation planning. Building on the review process developed for assuring fast track plans and in alignment with the process for assuring CCGs' annual plans, local implementation plans will be reviewed and challenged by a range of stakeholders including people with a learning disability and/or autism, their families/carers, clinicians and commissioners from other areas.

Delivery

- 4.23 We expect local transforming care partnerships to have drawn up robust implementation plans and be delivering against them from 1 April 2016.
- 4.24 A cross-sector alliance of organisations will support these transforming care partnerships to deliver on this ambitious agenda.
- 4.25 Working alongside local commissioners, NHS England, LGA and ADASS will work with providers and their representative bodies to rapidly mobilise new housing and care services in the community. This work will focus on supporting providers to:
 - Support commissioners to redesign services, including through advice on commissioning plans and market development, expertise on legal frameworks (such as the Mental Capacity Act and Deprivation of Liberty

Safeguards [DoLS]), and supporting individuals and families to design person-centred packages of support

- Deliver appropriate community-based services at scale, including through joint work between social care providers and providers of clinical services, and developing local responses to emergencies
- Train the local workforce within and beyond their organisations (e.g. through PBS training)
- Access the investment needed to expand and improve their offer at pace, including potentially through social investors
- Secure the capital required to deliver high-quality housing in community settings, including through potential social investment solutions such as charity bond issues (see case study below)

Case study – Retail Charity Bonds

In 2014, the first charity bond to be listed on the London Stock Exchange's Order Book for Retail Bonds was launched.

The bond, which raised £11 million to fund accommodation for people with a learning disability, was so oversubscribed it closed its offer period two and half weeks early.

The bond was launched by Retail Charity Bond plc and the funds have been used by Golden Lane Housing, the national charity which provides housing for people with a learning disability, to invest in buying and adapting much-needed community based housing across the country for over 100 people with a learning disability.

- 4.26 Alongside this work with providers to mobilise new services and housing in the community, we will explore the establishment of a national collaborative improvement programme (co-ordinating peer-learning and shared problem-solving between local areas), and a national accelerated support team able to work intensively with local areas with the biggest challenges and/or struggling to make progress.
- 4.27 HEE, Skills for Health and Skills for Care will collaborate to support the development of an appropriately skilled workforce to build the capacity to support people in the community. As far as possible, this will include working to support current inpatient staff to develop skills to work in the community. Every transforming care partnership will have a lead HEE contact to support them with planning and delivering workforce change. That lead contact will help them access relevant tools (such as competency frameworks), funding streams and training (for example leadership development or training to support staff in mainstream services to understand the needs of people with a learning disability and/or autism). Annex B sets out some of these resources in more detail.
- 4.28 NHS England, Monitor and the TDA will work together to support hospitals proactively to shift their business models, increasingly offering NHS assessment and treatment services in the community.

- 4.29 We will work with the CQC, Monitor, the TDA and local commissioners to ensure that inpatient units are only closed when people living in those units are supported to move in an appropriate and timely way to high quality services that can meet their needs. The CQC is also undertaking work to review their fundamental standards against the service model. When regulating active services (or those seeking registration) these fundamental standards will be used and robust action taken if services are not compatible with these and therefore the new service model.
- 4.30 We will review governance arrangements for the Transforming Care programme at a national level to ensure it reflects this alliance of organisations supporting local areas to deliver.

Monitoring progress

- 4.31 Nationally, we will monitor progress on delivery against the overarching outcomes we expect transformation to achieve, namely:
 - Reduced reliance on inpatient services (closing hospital services and strengthening support in the community)
 - Improved quality of life for people in inpatient and community settings
 - Improved quality of care for people in inpatient and community settings
- 4.32 Reduced reliance on inpatient services will be monitored using <u>Assuring</u> <u>Transformation data</u>,²¹ and from January 2016 the Mental Health Services Single Data Set²² (MHSDS), incorporating data from the Learning Disabilities Census and Assuring Transformation dataset.
- 4.33 We will explore with transforming care partnerships an appropriate way to monitor improvements in quality of life, but are minded to support areas to rollout use of the <u>Health Equality Framework tool</u>²³ to monitor quality of life. In particular, we are considering how to support the use of this tool to understand changes to quality of life as people are supported to move out of inpatient services.
- 4.34 We will support the development of a basket of indicators to monitor improvements in quality of care, aligned with the newly developed service model. This basket of indicators will, as far as possible, be based on existing data sources currently collected in the NHS and social care.
- 4.35 Furthermore, as part of the role out of the CTRs across the NHS, NHS England will work with system partners on introducing a metric for measuring the outcomes of this process. This may involve introducing a Patient Reported Outcome Measure (PROM) and/or a Patient Reported Experience Measure

²¹ <u>http://www.hscic.gov.uk/article/6328/Reports-from-Assuring-Transformation-Collection</u>

 ²² This is replacing the <u>Mental Health and Learning Disabilities dataset</u>
²³ <u>http://www.ndti.org.uk/publications/other-publications/the-health-equality-</u>

framework-and-commissioning-guide1/

(PREM). Development of this CTR outcome measure will have to involve people with a learning disability and/or autism, as well as their families/carers, clinicians, providers and commissioners to ensure it is robust and can be used at a national level to assess progress.

- 4.36 We will also revise the Learning Disability Self-Assessment Framework (SAF) and the Autism Self-Assessment Framework so that they reflect how well local areas are doing in building up support in the community and closing inpatient services.
- 4.37 With all the measures outlined above, it is important that people are supported to understand who will see their information, how their information will be used and make decisions about sharing their information. People should be given help to do this. For those people who lack capacity, they should still be involved as much as possible in any decisions made in their best interests.
- NHS England will also support people with a learning disability to check the 4.38 quality of services themselves, through a programme of work to establish a centralised system for NHS Quality Checking by people with a learning disability. Quality checker services train and support experts by experience to audit service quality. Quality checkers use their own experiences to make assessment on the quality of care and support, and to give a view that can be often missing from other forms of quality review. This entails using indicators of quality which people with a learning disability themselves consider to be relevant and important and which may therefore differ from those which have historically been used. Quality checkers with a learning disability will themselves carry out the evaluation, part of which will involve talking to service users about their experiences and views of the service in question. Evaluation of quality checking programmes show them to be an effective and efficient use of resources and to be associated with increases in quality and improved outcomes.
- 4.39 In addition, pilot work supported by NHS England has also demonstrated the potential of 'Always Events' to strengthen the voices of people with a learning disability and/or autism in the quality assurance of services.
- 4.40 Lancashire Care NHS Foundation Trust in partnership with the Institute for Healthcare Improvement (IHI), the Picker Institute Europe and NHS England has co-produced with people with a learning disability a set of 'Always Events' to improve the quality and consistency of transitions within and between services. NHS England will expand its work on 'Always Events', share the case study from Lancashire and produce a toolkit with IHI to support the further use of this tool in order to improve the responsiveness and accountability of services.

Financial underpinnings

- 4.41 A new financial framework will underpin and enable transformation.
- 4.42 Local transforming care partnerships (CCGs, local authorities and NHS England specialised commissioning) will be asked to use the total sum of money they spend as a whole system on people with a learning disability and/or autism to deliver care in a different way to achieve better results. This includes shifting money from some services (such as inpatient care) into others (such as community health services or packages of support). The costs of the future model of care will therefore be met from the total current envelope of spend on health and social care services for people with a learning disability and/or autism. We estimate that the closure of inpatient services of the scale set out in chapter 3 will release hundreds of millions of pounds for investment in better support in the community.
- 4.43 To enable that to happen, NHS England's specialised commissioning budget for secure learning disability and autism services will be aligned with the new transforming care partnerships, and CCGs will be encouraged to pool their budgets with local authorities whilst recognising their continued responsibility for NHS Continuing Healthcare. CCGs, NHS England specialised commissioning and local authorities will be supported to, where appropriate, put in place governance and financial mechanisms to align or pool resources and manage financial risk. The degree of change and financial risk will inevitably vary across localities, and we will support local commissioners to base decisions on transparent, open-book discussions, focussed on achieving the best outcomes for the people they serve.
- 4.44 For people who have been an inpatient for five years or more (approximately one third of the total inpatient population) and who are ready for discharge, we expect the transformational change required to be one of 'resettlement' out of hospital and into a more suitable home, as opposed to redesigning services to reduce the 'revolving door' of admissions and discharges. For this group, money will 'follow the individual' through dowries.
- 4.45 Dowries will be paid by the NHS to local authorities for people leaving hospital after continuous spells in inpatient care of five years or more at the point of discharge. We expect that NHS England will pay for dowries when the inpatient is being discharged from NHS England-commissioned care, and that CCGs will pay for dowries when the individual is being discharged from CCGcommissioned care. Dowries will be recurrent, will be linked to individual patients, and will cease on the death of the individual. An annual confirmation of dowry-qualifying individuals should be undertaken by local authorities and CCGs. Dowries are to be prospective only, and so should not be applied to any patients that have already been discharged. They should apply to those patients discharged on or after 1 April 2016, and only to those patients who have been in inpatient care for five years or more on 1 April 2016 (not any patient who reaches five years in hospital subsequent to that date). They should apply pro rata in the start and finish year. To ensure that the costs of the future model of care fit within the existing funding envelope, it is important

that dowries are set at a level which is consistent with this principle. The absolute level of the dowry is not expected to be set nationally, but is to be left to local discussions which should be subject to the principles set out here. In addition to paying for these dowries, the NHS will continue to fund continuing healthcare (CHC) and relevant Section 117 aftercare.

- 4.46 In addition, from November 2015 *Who Pays* guidance determining responsibility for payment to providers will be revised to facilitate swifter discharge from hospital of patients originating from one CCG but being discharged into a different local area. This will ensure continuity of care with responsibility remaining with one CCG rather than being passed from commissioner to commissioner.
- 4.47 Transformation of this scale will entail significant transition costs, including the temporary double running of services as inpatient facilities continue to be funded whilst new community services are established. The extent of the transition costs will depend on the efficiency of the bed closure programme, and the timing and extent of required new community investment. We will work with commissioners and providers to support the closure of inpatient capacity and development of new community services as efficiently as possible, but we recognise that non-recurrent investment will still be necessary. To support local areas with these transitional costs and building on the approach tested with fast track areas, NHS England will make available up to £30 million of transformation funding over three years, with national funding conditional on match-funding from local commissioners.
- 4.48 In addition to this, £15 million capital funding over three years will be made available, and NHS England will explore making further capital funding available following the Spending Review.
- 4.49 As set out in the national service model, alongside these new financial underpinnings to enable transformation we expect to see a significant growth in personalised funding approaches (personal budgets, personal health budgets, and integrated personal budgets as well as education, health and care plans). Local transformation should, for instance, be aligned with existing requirements for CCGs to set out a 'local offer' on personal health budgets.
- 4.50 In some parts of the country, local transformation plans will also need to align with Integrated Personal Commissioning (IPC) pilots. IPC sites are currently testing approaches to enable people to purchase their care (including clinical services currently commissioned using NHS standard contracts) through personal budgets, combining resources from health, social care and other funding sources where applicable. The work these sites are undertaking includes linking cost and activity data across services and trialling new contracting and payment approaches that enable the money to be used differently. As IPC sites progress their work, we will support local transforming care partnerships to learn from them and apply the lessons to their own local areas.

Conclusion

This document started with a simple vision that people with learning disability and/or autism have the right to the same opportunities as anyone else to live satisfying valued lives and to be treated with dignity and respect. They should have a home, be able to develop and maintain relationships, and get the support they need to live healthy, safe and fulfilling lives in the community.

For all the frustration of recent years, it is a vision that we can make real. Thousands of people with a learning disability and/or autism are today supported in the community who would years ago have lived in hospitals. There is good practice across the country. There are thousands of people with the expertise and commitment to make this shift happen, from people with a learning disability and/or autism themselves, families/carers as well as frontline clinicians and staff. We have local leaders across social care, the NHS and criminal justice system ready and willing to take up the challenge. At a national level there is an alliance of organisations committed to breaking down the barriers to change, supporting local leaders to make a difference.

Together we have an opportunity to transform thousands of lives. Together we must seize the day and deliver.

Annex A – Proposed CCG clusters for transforming care partnerships

This table shows how CCGs currently propose to cluster together to work with local authorities and NHS England specialised commissioning to build up community services and close inpatient provision that is no longer needed.

Transforming Care Partnership	Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)
South Worcestershire,	NHS South Worcestershire CCG
Redditch, Bromsgrove & Wyre	NHS Wyre Forest CCG
Forest	NHS Redditch and Bromsgrove CCG
Hereford	NHS Herefordshire CCG
Coventry, Rugby, South	NHS Coventry and Rugby CCG
Warwickshire & Warwickshire North	NHS South Warwickshire CCG
NOLUI	NHS Warwickshire North CCG
Birmingham CrossCity,	NHS Birmingham CrossCity CCG
Birmingham South Central & Solihull	NHS Birmingham South and Central CCG
Solitiui	NHS Solihull CCG
Walsall	NHS Walsall CCG
Black Country	NHS Dudley CCG
	NHS Sandwell and West Birmingham CCG
	NHS Wolverhampton CCG
Derbyshire	NHS Erewash CCG
	NHS Southern Derbyshire CCG
	NHS Hardwick CCG
	NHS North Derbyshire CCG
Nottinghamshire	NHS Mansfield and Ashfield CCG
	NHS Bassetlaw CCG
	NHS Newark and Sherwood CCG
	NHS Nottingham City CCG
	NHS Nottingham North and East CCG
	NHS Nottingham West CCG
	NHS Rushcliffe CCG
Suffolk	NHS Ipswich and East Suffolk CCG
	NHS West Suffolk CCG
Norfolk	NHS North Norfolk CCG
	NHS Norwich CCG

	NHS South Norfolk CCG
	NHS West Norfolk CCG
	NHS Great Yarmouth and Waveney CCG
Cambridge and Peterborough	NHS Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG
Essex	NHS Basildon and Brentwood CCG
	NHS Castle Point and Rochford CCG
	NHS Mid Essex CCG
	NHS North East Essex CCG
	NHS Southend CCG
	NHS Thurrock CCG
	NHS West Essex CCG
Bedford, Luton and Milton	NHS Bedfordshire CCG
Keynes	NHS Luton CCG
	NHS Milton Keynes CCG
Hertfordshire	NHS East and North Hertfordshire CCG
	NHS Herts Valleys CCG
Nene and Corby	NHS Nene CCG
	NHS Corby CCG
Lincolnshire	NHS Lincolnshire East CCG
	NHS Lincolnshire West CCG
	NHS South Lincolnshire CCG
	NHS South West Lincolnshire CCG
Leicestershire	NHS East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG
	NHS Leicester City CCG
	NHS West Leicestershire CCG
Shropshire	NHS Shropshire CCG
	NHS Telford and Wrekin CCG
Staffordshire	NHS East Staffordshire CCG
	NHS North Staffordshire CCG
	NHS South East Staffordshire and Seisdon Peninsular CCG
	NHS Stafford and Surrounds CCG
	NHS Cannock Chase CCG
	NHS Stoke-on-Trent CCG
Gloucestershire	NHS Gloucestershire CCG
Wiltshire and Swindon	NHS Swindon CCG
	NHS Wiltshire CCG
Bristol, Bane and South	NHS Bristol CCG

Gloucestershire	NHS South Gloucestershire CCG
	NHS Bath and North East Somerset CCG
Somerset and North Somerset	NHS North Somerset CCG
	NHS Somerset CCG
Cornwall	NHS Kernow CCG
Devon	NHS North, East, West Devon CCG
	NHS South Devon and Torbay CCG
Kent and Medway	NHS Ashford CCG
	NHS Canterbury and Coastal CCG
	NHS Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley CCG
	NHS Medway CCG
	NHS South Kent Coast CCG
	NHS Swale CCG
	NHS Thanet CCG
	NHS West Kent CCG
Sussex	NHS Brighton and Hove CCG
	NHS High Weald Lewes Havens CCG
	NHS Eastbourne, Hailsham and Seaford CCG
	NHS Hastings and Rother CCG
	NHS Coastal West Sussex CCG
	NHS Crawley CCG
	NHS Horsham and Mid Sussex CCG
Surrey	NHS Guildford and Waverley CCG
	NHS North West Surrey CCG
	NHS Surrey Downs CCG
	NHS East Surrey CCG
	NHS Surrey Heath CCG
Buckinghamshire	NHS Aylesbury Vale CCG
	NHS Chiltern CCG
Berkshire	NHS Bracknell and Ascot CCG
	NHS Slough CCG
	NHS Windsor Ascot and Maidenhead CCG
	NHS Newbury and District CCG
	NHS North and West Reading CCG
	NHS South Reading CCG
	NHS Wokingham CCG
Hampshire & Isle of Wight	NHS North East Hampshire and Farnham CCG
	NHS North Hampshire CCG

	NHS Portsmouth CCG
	NHS South Eastern Hampshire CCG
	NHS Southampton CCG
	NHS West Hampshire CCG
	NHS Fareham and Gosport CCG
	NHS Isle of Wight CCG
Dorset	NHS Dorset CCG
Wirral, Cheshire & Chester	NHS Wirral CCG
	NHS West Cheshire CCG
	NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG
	NHS South Cheshire CCG
	NHS Vale Royal CCG
Halton, St Helens, Warrington,	NHS Halton CCG
Knowsley	NHS St Helens CCG
	NHS Warrington CCG
	NHS Knowsley CCG
Liverpool, Sefton, Southport &	NHS South Sefton CCG
Formby	NHS Southport and Formby CCG
	NHS Liverpool CCG
Greater Manchester	NHS Bolton CCG
	NHS Bury CCG
	NHS Central Manchester CCG
	NHS Heywood, Middleton and Rochdale CCG
	NHS North Manchester CCG
	NHS Oldham CCG
	NHS Salford CCG
	NHS South Manchester CCG
	NHS Stockport CCG
	NHS Tameside and Glossop CCG
	NHS Trafford CCG
	NHS Wigan Borough CCG
Lancashire	NHS Blackburn with Darwen CCG
	NHS Blackpool CCG
	NHS Chorley and South Ribble CCG
	NHS East Lancashire CCG
	NHS Fylde and Wyre CCG
	NHS Greater Preston CCG

	NHS West Lancashire CCG
Cumbria and NE	NHS Cumbria CCG
	NHS Newcastle Gateshead CCG
	NHS North Tyneside CCG
	NHS Northumberland CCG
	NHS South Tyneside CCG
	NHS Sunderland CCG
	NHS Darlington CCG
	NHS Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG
	NHS Hartlepool and Stockton-on-Tees CCG
	NHS North Durham CCG
	NHS South Tees CCG
North Yorkshire	NHS Hambleton, Richmondshire and Whitby CCG
	NHS Harrogate and Rural District CCG
	NHS Scarborough and Ryedale CCG
	NHS Vale of York CCG
Barnsley, Wakefield, Kirklees,	NHS Barnsley CCG
Huddersfield & Calderdale	NHS Wakefield CCG
	NHS North Kirklees CCG
	NHS Greater Huddersfield CCG
	NHS Calderdale CCG
Bradford	NHS Bradford Districts CCG
	NHS Bradford City CCG
	NHS Airedale, Wharfdale and Craven CCG
Leeds	NHS Leeds North CCG
	NHS Leeds South and East CCG
	NHS Leeds West CCG
Sheffield, Doncaster,	NHS Doncaster CCG
Rotherham, North Lincolnshire	NHS Rotherham CCG
	NHS North East Lincolnshire CCG
	NHS North Lincolnshire CCG
	NHS Sheffield CCG
East Riding & Hull	NHS East Riding of Yorkshire CCG
	NHS Hull CCG
London North West	NHS Brent CCG
	NHS Central London CCG

	1
	NHS Ealing CCG
	NHS Hammersmith and Fulham CCG
	NHS Harrow CCG
	NHS Hillingdon CCG
	NHS Hounslow CCG
	NHS West London CCG
London North, Central & East	NHS Barking and Dagenham CCG
	NHS Barnet CCG
	NHS Camden CCG
	NHS City and Hackney CCG
	NHS Enfield CCG
	NHS Haringey CCG
	NHS Havering CCG
	NHS Islington CCG
	NHS Newham CCG
	NHS Redbridge CCG
	NHS Tower Hamlets CCG
	NHS Waltham Forest CCG
London South East	NHS Bexley CCG
	NHS Bromley CCG
	NHS Greenwich CCG
	NHS Lambeth CCG
	NHS Lewisham CCG
	NHS Southwark CCG
London South West	NHS Croydon CCG
	NHS Kingston CCG
	NHS Merton CCG
	NHS Richmond CCG
	NHS Sutton CCG
	NHS Wandsworth CCG
Oxfordshire	NHS Oxfordshire CCG

Annex B – Workforce development

- i. In every part of the country there are people with the skills and experience to deliver effective care to people with a learning disability and/or autism. These people can be found within health and social care and amongst the people with a learning disability and/or autism themselves, as well as families/carers that support individuals in their own home.
- ii. As such, an essential part of delivering each joint transformation plan relies on how areas can harness these skills.
- iii. Areas need to develop, focus and refine the skills needed to enable them to work in a different way. They need to manage risk efficiently and have robust and effective ways of intervening in crisis situations that lead to the best possible solutions in the least restrictive environment.
- iv. Each area needs to establish mechanisms to understand the skills and competencies that are required to support the specific needs of every individual. Only then will they be able to commission a service that is flexible enough to care for each person and their own specific circumstances. The development of new and innovative approaches to supporting people will be reliant upon the development of a flexible and skilled workforce equipped to adapt and adopt new practices. This may involve commissioning new roles from those traditionally employed within the current provision.²⁴ Those commissioned to provide such services will need to define competencies and skills required, assess the capability currently available within their workforce, and access appropriate training and development. This will include developing skills to deliver services across all ages in the areas of mental health, autism, managing behavioural problems and offending behaviour.
- v. HEE alongside partner organisations Skills for Care and Skills for Health will offer practical support with the aim to:
 - Equip commissioners with the tools and confidence to commission for workforce skills and competencies. Commissioners are an essential part of the workforce that needs development and support to deliver the new service model. This includes enhancing existing service provision, creating new service models and commissioning beyond the traditional service boundaries, for example placing learning disability nurses in primary and secondary care in order to support health and care professionals to make better decisions. Skills for Care have developed a workforce commissioning model that provides a systematic way of linking service commissioning with workforce commissioning and financial strategy. This can be found here
- vi. There are several models for testing workforce assumptions and undertaking Strategic Workforce planning, including <u>Integrated Workforce Planning</u>

²⁴ <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/</u> 309153/Strengthening_the_commitment_one_year_on_published.pdf

Solutions from Skills for Health, and Skills for Care's Workforce Capacity Planning guidance.

- Work with existing service providers to review the skills and competencies within their existing workforce to identify education and training needs, and facilitate transition to a new way of working. HEE in partnership with Skills for Health have developed a skills and competency framework which can be utilised to undertake a training needs analysis of the existing workforce, and to build a competency based team model against which new and existing roles can be mapped. The framework, alongside an illustrative animated video, can be found here: <u>HEE Skills & Competency Framework</u>
- vii. We are in the process of developing an interactive tool to support the implementation and use of the competence framework.
- viii. The Positive Behavioural Support (PBS) Coalition have published a <u>PBS</u> <u>Competency Framework.</u> For ease of use, the PBS competencies have been mapped into the HEE Skills and Competency Framework.
- ix. Whilst this framework has been developed primarily for the health care workforce it can be utilised in a range of services. Skills for care have developed a strategy for the social care sector to support functional and employability skills (<u>Core Skills</u>), which impact directly on the quality of care and support services.
 - Ensure that education and training to enable the wider workforce is able to meet the needs of people with a learning disability in all care settings. Recognising that most people with a learning disability have their health and care needs met by mainstream health care services, HEE commissioned the development of education and training resources <u>'Learning Disability Made Clear'</u> that can be used by staff in a range of health and care settings to increase their knowledge and support how services can make adjustments to meet specific needs
- x. A suite of existing resources developed to raise awareness of the needs of people with autism, have been reviewed and located in one place to enable individuals and organisations to select the most appropriate resource for their needs. A marketing and promotion strategy is underway to ensure these resources are widely accessed by employers, employees, volunteers and carers across the country. These can be found <u>here.</u>
- xi. In addition to the above, work is being undertaken to develop specific learning disability and autism skills in the mainstream mental health workforce on whom we will become increasingly reliant as specialist services become more integrated.

• Developing leadership capability across the system including commissioners, service providers and carers to promote innovation and change services to focus on people's needs. HEE, Skills for Health and Skills for Care will coordinate access to the various provision and funding streams available across agencies to ensure that creative and innovative leadership activities are supported as part of the national transformation plan

Annex C – Notes on data used in this document

All modelling to produce planning assumptions and charts was based on calculating inpatient rates per million population. The following notes apply to all charts used in this document which describe projected reductions in fast track bed usage and current geographical variation in reliance on inpatient care across England.

- All inpatient rates are based on GP registered population aged 18 and over as at 2013/14
- Inpatient numbers include children under the age of 18 but these patients represent less than 5% of the total inpatient population
- High secure services have been excluded (65 patients²⁵)

Data on the current position and projections for fast track areas is taken from the fast track plans, but projections exclude Worcestershire (part of Arden, Herefordshire and Worcestershire Fast Track).

The data set used to calculate the current geographical variation as at 31 July 2015 combines information on CCG-commissioned patients from the Assuring Transformation collection and data on NHS England-commissioned patients from NHS England's Local Trackers (this includes information on the home CCG of NHS England-commissioned patients). This means that the presentation of inpatient data is based on where patients originally come from, not where their hospital is located.

Assuring Transformation data is collected and published by The Health and Social Care Information Centre (HSCIC). All rights reserved ©2015. Assuring Transformation data is presented in accordance with HSCIC rules on suppressed data for collections involving small numbers of records.

Not all NHS England-commissioned patients in the Local Tracker data could be matched to a CCG of origin, and these patients are therefore omitted from the analysis of geographical variance on a Transforming Care Partnership level. The geographical analysis presented in Figures 2 and 3 assigns these patients to the locality of their commissioner.

²⁵ Number of inpatients in high secure settings suppressed in accordance with HSCIC rules on suppressed data for collections involving small numbers of records. Figure correct as at 31st July 2015.